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The number of brass bands in the U.S.A. grew rapidly from the 1850ôs and through the Civil 
War, which helped to maintain the musical momentum by enlisting regimental bands, many 
of which returned to civilian duties. These were almost exclusively composed of men, 
although there were a few female instrumentalists. Aside from the occasional professional, 
touring, group, it is not until the  mid -1870ôs that the first ladiesô brass bands start to appear 
in towns across the country. 
 
As part of my earlier research into the town and cornet bands of the U.S.A., which 
documented over 8,700 such bands, I recorded some 350 ladiesô bands across the country. 
These were unevenly distributed between the states, partly due to the differences in the 
numbers of musical groups in existence, and also due to the availability of reference sources 
for the information. For example, the states of Indiana, Michigan , Pennsylvania, Ohio, and 
Iowa all had around 20 ladiesô bandsô records, while Kansas was significantly higher, with 
68 ï this being primarily due to a wider set of information sources used in my research. 
These numbers, of the overall bands in the U.S.A. are but a small proportion of the total, 
which would require more extensive research to determine. 
 
However, it is the ladiesô bands of Michigan that are of interest here ï being suitable 
examples of their counterparts elsewhere in the U.S.A. The following  details are a collection 
of information about 5 4 ladiesô bands identified as being active in Michigan between 1880 
and 1925. 
 
Adrian School for Girls Young Ladies ô Band  
 
The various houses of the State legislature held parties on Washingtonôs birthday, 21 
February 1905. The House Committee engaged the Young Ladiesô Band from the School for 
Girls at Adrian. 1 
 
Albion Ladiesô Brass Band 
 
The Albion Ladiesô Brass Band was formed in the autumn of 1883, and consisted of 12 
women, a man tuba player and a man director. They practiced in rooms over what was, in 
1938, the Wochholz and Gress grocery on South Superior street. There was a noticeable lack 
of talking  and tobacco smoke at rehearsals.2 Referring to one of their concerts, it was 
reported that "Although they did not attempt difficult music, it was, nevertheless, good 
music and executed with creditable precision in point of time, harmony and expression. 
Their instruments gli stened like burnished gold. Their playing was subdued and not 
disagreeably harsh and noisy, as is too often the case with bands playing indoors. It was 
not strictly a band concert, but a concert given by the band."  In one of their concerts, in 
November 1883, the band netted $50. The bass drum player was a widow with nine 
children. 3 
 
 

 
1 Detroit Free Press, 22 February 1905 
2 Battle Creek Enquirer, 29 May 1938  
3 The Times Herald (Port Huron), 12 January 1884 



Alpena Young Ladiesô Cornet Band 
 
This was active in July 1884, when it gave a concert at the Opera House, Alpena, which was 
a great hit with the audience. The members of the band were: Lizzie Hawley, Eb Cornet; 
Jessie Smith, Bb Cornet (and soloist); Mamie Wyckoff, 1st Eb Alto; Flora Leach, 2nd Eb Alto; 
Mati e Beeson, 1st Trombone Tenor; Minnie Whitney  (aged 14, who also played violin solos), 
2nd Bb Tenor; Nellie Jennings, Baritone; Nel lie Piper, Tuba; Flora Sprague, Tenor Drum , 
Emma McKenzie, Bass Drum. 4 
 
Bancroft Ladiesô Cornet Band 
 
Active in 1888 to 1890, conductor Henry Williams.  The band received its new instruments 
in September 1888. To raise funds, they held a social at Mrs George Converseôs in February 
1889, at which they received $9. By December 1889, the band had played at many church 
socials, lectures and weddings, and were extolling their forthcoming concert at the end of 
the year. In January 1890 they held a social at the home of Roger Sherman. By April 1890 
they felt a need to reorganise, and held a meeting at John Wayerôs house on 11 April, to 
discuss the issue. There were also some vacancies for horn players at this time.5 
 
Battle Creek Ladiesô Band 
 
Active in 1884. 
 
Bay City Ladiesô Band 
 
This band was active in 1883, led by Frank Lawrence. Unfortunately, in early 1884, he 
skipped out of town with all the funds of the band, leaving the members deeply in debt.6 
 
Bellevue Ladiesô Band 
 
This band was active in 1884, when it performed at the Good Templarsô picnic party at Pine 
Lake, Ingham County, on 8 July 1884. The audience rated the band compared favourably 
with any one of the amateur bands of the state.7 
 
Brown City Ladiesô Cornet Band  
 
Founded in summer 1889, with instructor Professor Casey. It was reported to be preparing 
for its summer engagements in early June 1891. During the winter of 1891/92 the band was 
tutored by Professor J.O. Grinnell. They gave a concert in Gaigeôs Hall on 1 April 1892, where 
some of the other participants were unable to attend, so the band filled the gaps with extra 
selections of their own.8 The band was still active in 1893 . 
 
Cadillac Ladiesô Band 
 
This was formed in early summer 1886, and they were hoping to receive their new silver-
plated instruments in September 1886.9 
 

 
4 Alpena Argus, 23 July 1884 
5 Owosso Times, 4 April 1890 
6 The Time (Harbor Beach), 13 March 1884 
7 Owosso Times, 18 July 1884 
8 Weekly Expositor (Brockway Centre), 8 April 1892 
9 Detroit Free Press, 23 August 1886 



  
 
This band was formed some time before July 1879, when its existence was reported. Its first 
recorded performance was at Oxford on 3 July 1880. The following year, the band took part 
in a band picnic at Lapeer, on 11 August 1881. This was hosted by Johnsonôs Lapeer Band, 
and also included the Bay City Knights Templar Band, the North Branch Band, and the 
Hadley Band, all of which enjoyed a friendly contest during the day and a joint concert in 
the evening.10  
 
In May 1882 the Band appeared on the balcony of 
C.R. Mableyôs establishment, entertaining the 
thousands in the street below; they attended the re-
union of the Army of the Potomac in June; provided 
musical entertainment for town of Caro on 4 July; 
took a two-week concert and pleasure tour to 
Petoskey, the Traverse, Mackinaw, Cheboygan, and 
Alpena, in August; accompanied a grand excursion 
from Vassar to Port Huron on 1 September ï when 
it was noted that the band ñhas won golden opinions 
throughout the state, both for its excellent music 
and its high social  standard of membershipò11 and 
the band also played on the steamer ñOmar D. 
Congerò to an audience of hundreds; it performed at 
the Washtenaw county agricultural fair later in 
September 1882. 
 
The Michigan State Band Association Tournament 
began on 5 June 1883 in Detroit. It included 21 
bands and 383 musicians. The solo contests were 
held that evening at Whitneyôs Opera House, and the 
proceedings were opened by an overture by the Caro Ladiesô Band. The following day the 
bands marched through the city, the 15 Caro ladies surrounded by the other bands ï which 
included two other ladiesô bands (Fenton and Jackson). A joint concert of the ladiesô bands 
was held in the Whitney Opera House in the evening, with the Caro Band opening with an 
overture and playing two further pieces as an encore due to the great applause received.12 
The members of the Band were:  
 

Professor A. Corazzie (leader), Misses L. Hawley, N. Rogers, E. Kimball, I. Franklin, H. 
Franklin, M. Townsend, M. Parmlee, G. McPherson, F. Sprague, E. Mackinzie, N. Piper, 
and Mr H.B. Corazzie. 

 
In the special prizes class of the Tournament, the Caro Ladiesô Band played a medley of 
popular airs and the fantasie ñFairiesô Moonlight Revelsò, which was played without the aid 
of their leader. They took the second prize ï a $75 cornet. Before departing for Caro, the 
following day, they gave a free concert at the offices of the Detroit Free Press. 
 
The Caro Ladies Band performed at the 1883 Independence Day celebrations at East 
Saginaw; played at the opening of the new Princess roller-skating rink in Detroit in 
November 1884; were engaged to play for a season at the Princess Rink in February 1885; 
they were invited to lead a grand procession of the labour organisations in Detroit on Labor 

 
10 Detroit Free Press, 29 July 1881 
11 Times Herald (Port Huron), 30 August 1882  
12 Detroit Free Press, 6 June 1883 



Day, 1887. This may have been one of the last appearances of the Band, as there was a report 
in July 1888 of some ótalk of organizing a ladiesô band in Caroô. 
 
Carsonville Ladiesô Band 
 
Founded in early summer 1894, with eleven members. Their new instruments had all been 
received by the beginning of July 1894. 
 
Charlevoix Ladiesô Brass Band 
 
This band was active in 1883, serenading Senator Buttars on his return from Lansing in 
June. In August 1883 it was reported to be delighting the citizens and making frequent trips 
to surrounding towns to perform.  
 
Charlotte Ladiesô Band 
 
This Band was active in August 1884, when it took part in the military and veterans reunion 
parades and entertainment at óCamp Masonô, Battle Creek. Having taken part in the 
procession, the Band were situated at the Guard Mount, and three of the ladies were 
overcome. They were sent to the hospital where Dr. Milton Chase, the camp surgeon, soon 
brought them to a state of health, and they returned to resume their musical duties.13 
 
Cheboygan Ladiesô Brass Band  
 
This was founded in July 1888 and was made up of the McCallum sisters and other ladies. A 
report in January 1889 noted that they had gained considerable proficiency and hope a 
public opportunity to hear them would be soon. 14 
 
Coopersville Ladiesô Band  
 
This band was active in October 1891, when it performed for the new Congressman at a 
reception in the town. 15 
 

 
Coopersville Ladiesô Band 

 
 

13 Detroit Free Press, 22 August 1884 
14 Cheboygan Democrat, 31 January 1889 
15 Detroit Free Press, 22 October 1891 



Detroit Ladiesô Band 
 
Founded in autumn 1886. In January 1887 they just needed two more young ladies to 
complete the roster, and they were engaged in efforts to buy a new set of instruments.16 The 
members of the band were:  
 

Miss Carrie Lewis (president), Annie Phillips (vice -president), Alice Hagadorne 
(secretary), Minnie Watterson (treasurer), Professor Jacox (tutor ), L. Senbury, Ida Pepin, 
Ella Hagadorne, Lillie Pepin, and Mrs Jacox. 

 
Detroit Womenôs Cornet Band 
 
This band was active in 1904 when, together with the Schumann male quartet, they provided 
music during the Detroit Retail Grocersô Pure Food Show, held at the Light Guard Armory 
in October 1904.17 
 
Escanaba Ladiesô Band 
 
Founded in March 1927, with twenty girls, dir ected by Joseph Greenfield, leader of the 
Escabana City Band. It was still active in 1930.18 
 

 
Escanaba Ladiesô Band, c. 1928 

 
Fenton Ladiesô Cornet Band 
 
This band was founded in 1881. It had achieved a good standard of performance when it 
took part in the Michigan State Band Association Tournament in June 1883. This comprised 
21 bands and 383 musicians. On 6 June, the bands marched through the city, the 15 Fenton 
ladies surrounded by the other bands ï which included two other ladiesô bands (Caro and 
Jackson). A joint concert of the ladiesô bands was held in the Whitney Opera House in the 
evening, with the Fenton Band performing an overture and two other pieces. In the contest 
the Band played an introductory overture and the ñElmore Quickstepò, and won first prize, 
an $80 cornet. Members at this time were:  

 
16 Detroit Free Press, 25 January 1887 
17 Detroit Free Press, 2 October 1904 
18 Escanaba Daily Press, 19 March 1957 



 
Eugene B. Shepherd (leader), Misses Lizzie M. Jennings, Lillian Earl, Winnie L. Smith, 
Flora Topping, Mabel White, Ida Trophagen, C. Nell ie Jennings, Zulla Richardson, Hattie 
Fowler, C. Belle Jennings, Maggie Guest, and Maude Topping, and Mrs E.C. Foote and 
Mrs C. Tinker. 

 
The Band later performed at the Pontiac Fair Grounds for a whole roast ox dinner, with the 
Pontiac Cornet Band as a supporting act, on 27 June 1883.19 
 

 
Fenton Ladiesô Cornet Band 

 

 
Fenton Ladiesô Cornet Band ï from the left: Flora Trophagen, Eva Reeson, Maud Hirst,  
Sarah Rudolph, Mame Hassler, Flora Topping, Flora Davis, E.C. Forty, Mary Jennings,  

Susie Van Oaken, Lillian Earl, Etta Reeson, Ella Freeman, and Nell Jennings  

 
19 Pontiac Bill Poster, 20 June 1883 



1884 saw the Band invited to give a concert for the Owosso High School at the Opera House, 
in May; it attended the State Band Tournament at East Saginaw on 4 June and took first 
prize once more; gave a concert at the Colwell Hall, Fenton later in June. The Band travelled 
to Fremont Ohio, in October 1885 to perform. On 28 August 1886 the Band provided óthe 
best of prohibition musicô at a Prohibition mass meeting in Owosso, having just fulfilled a 
two-week engagement at Cheltenham Beach, Chicago.20 
 
The Band took first  prize in the Firemanôs Tournament at Ridgetown, Ontario, in June 1887; 
provided music for the Fenton Fair in October 1887. The Owosso I.O.O.F. lodge members 
made a trip to Essex Center in Detroit, on 1 July 1889, and were joined on the train by the 
Fenton Ladiesô Band at Fenton, causing some of the younger Oddfellows to ósmooth their 
raven locks and have their interest wander materially from the exciting game of pedro. ô21 
The Fenton Fair, in October 1889, also used the Ladiesô Band. Independence Day in Fenton, 
1890 saw the Ladiesô Band performing and marching with the Oak Grove Band and the Ayres 
Martial Band. Flora Davis was a member of the Band in July 1890. The Band attended the 
Grand Army of the Republic Parade, at Detroit, in August 1891, coming in for cheers and 
applause for their playing and natty costumes. From 17 October 1891 the Band started out 
on a 3,000 mile concert tour of the southern states.22 
 
The last two recorded engagements for the Band were leading the Columbus Day childrenôs 
march at Fenton, in October 1892; and a regular series of engagements at Long Lake, 
entertaining visitors on moonlight excursions, in August 1894. The Band disbanded in 
August 1895, following the departure of a number of its leading members. 
 

 
Fenton Ladiesô Cornet Band ï from the left: Grace Colwall, Hattie Imlet, Oda Rudolph,  
Nell Jennings, Mary Joyce, Nell Pipur, Vera Dalgen, Mary Jennings, Nettie Johnson,  

Sara Rudolph, Nell Kellogg, Mame Hassle r, Etta Reeson, and Cora Lewis 

 
20 Owosso Times, 20 August 1886 
21 Owosso Times, 5 July 1889 
22 Owosso Times, 23 October 1891 



Fenton Ladiesô Military Band  
 
This successor to the Fenton Ladiesô Cornet Band was founded around June 1898. It 
appeared at the Free Street Fair in Howell, from 27 to 30 September 1898, where they 
occupied the stand of honour at the centre of the town, ófurnishing sweet musicô. The Band 
led the queenôs float in the fairôs opening parade.23 
 
Flushing Ladiesô Cornet Band 
 
This band was active in 1884 and 1885, and it  operated at the same time as the menôs 
Flushing Cornet Band. 
 
Frankfort Girlsô Band 
 
This band was active in 1917 and into the 1920ôs. It consisted of ten girls playing kazoo or 
zobo instruments. Also known as the Faux Girlsô Band of Frankfort. 
 

 
Faux Girlsô Band, Frankfort, 1917 

 
  

 
23 Livingston County Daily Press and Argus, 28 September 1898 



Gierkôs Ladiesô Band (Richmond)  
 
This band was from the town of Richmond and was known to be active between 1913 and 
1915. 
 

 
Gierkôs Ladiesô Band 

 
Grand Haven Ladiesô Band 
 
Founded in 1876, by John Lucans. The band included four of his daughters, the youngest 
being just ten years old.24 
 
Grand Ledge Ladiesô Band 
 
This bandôs first appearance was at the Central Michigan Soldiers and Sailors Reunion at 
Owosso, in August 1886, when they played for the various exercises being undertaken. Later 
in the month they performed at a prohibition demonstration at Owosso. Unfortunately, the 
bus (a dray fitted with seats) being used to transport the Band from the depot, overturned 
by the Catholic church, throwing the Band into the ditch, injuring most of them and 
damaging the instruments. The driver later went to Grand Ledge and offered $100 in 
settlement, which was accepted by the Band.25 They did recover, however, and repaired their 
instruments. The Band provided music at Portland on 4 July 1887; and once again attended 
the Central Michigan Soldiersô Reunion, this year at Ionia, in August 1887. The Band 
disbanded in September 1891, the reason given being ñbecause the boys keep marrying off 
the members.ò26 
 
Hadley Ladiesô Band 
 
This band was active in 1891, when it accompanied the Lapeer County Veteran Battalion to 
Detroit, in August 1891 ï the ladies being quartered at 12 Waterloo Street for the visit.27 
 
 
 
 

 
24 The True Northerner (Paw Paw), 28 July 1876 
25 Detroit Free Press, 3 September 1886 
26 Owosso Times, 18 September 1891 
27 Detroit Free Press, 13 July 1891 


